5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Commons Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2017-CP-39-0428

Appellate Case No. 2018-001423

John M. Burgess,

Appellant,

v.

Katherine C. Hunter,

Respondent.

RECEIVED
JAN 17 2020
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen N. Garcia
Bar No. 76191
Garcia Law, LLC
604 Pettigru Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-7335
Stephen@scgarcialaw.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WERE FACIAL EXPRESSIONS, GESTURES, AND LACK OF ATTENTION DIRECTED TOWARDS PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WHILE COUNSEL PRESENTED CASE TO JURY REVERSIBLE ERROR?
2. DID TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AT THE CONCLUSION OF CASE BASED ON PREVIOUSLY COMPLAINED OF FACIAL EXPRESSIONS, GESTURES, AND LACK OF ATTENTION DIRECTED TOWARDS PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL?
3. DID TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AS UNTIMELY WHERE THE AMENDED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS FILED EIGHT (7) DAYS AFTER PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL RECEIVED A SIGNED AFFIDAVIT FROM A JUROR?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case centered on an automobile collision occurring on or about December 10, 2013 in which the Plaintiff/Appellant alleged Defendant/Respondent was liable for the injuries and ensuing damages sustained by the Plaintiff/Appellant. This case was called before the Court on June 25, 2018 for a Jury Trial. On June 29, 2019, the Jury rendered its verdict, finding that both the Plaintiff/Appellant and Defendant/Respondent were negligent, but assigning 51% liability to the Plaintiff/Appellant.

At the close of the first day of Trial and upon adjournment—and confirming Plaintiff's/Appellant's own observations—Plaintiff/Appellant was alerted that throughout the entire line of questioning of Defendant/Respondent and Plaintiff/Appellant, the Presiding Judge made numerous and continuous, overt facial expressions and gestures; upon learning of same, Plaintiff/Appellant had immediate cause for concern. Arriving in the courtroom on Day 2 of trial, Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel immediately requested a meeting with the Presiding Judge and Defendant's/Respondent's counsel in the Judge's chambers to discuss the matter. At this meeting, it was the Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel's intention to attempt to cure any actions that may have biased or

unduly influenced the jury while at the same time doing so in the least confrontational and in the most deferential manner possible. The meeting was contentious at best.

Upon return to the courtroom, the Presiding Judge stated that Plaintiff/Appellant had something to put on the record. Plaintiff/Appellant stated his objection to the facial expressions and other actions emanating from the bench; Plaintiff/Appellant specifically cited Canon 3 of Rule 501, SCACR.¹ Plaintiff/Appellant was promptly cutoff during his noting of objection on the record and accused of threatening the Presiding Judge; Plaintiff/Appellant was not afforded an opportunity to state his motion for mistrial, motion for recusal, or further develop his objection on the record.² No curative measures were taken by the Presiding Judge upon the Jury returning to the courtroom. Plaintiff/Appellant believed any further attempts to object on the various issues would have been futile considering the manner in which his prior objection was received by the Presiding Judge.

Trial proceeded, and the facial expressions and gestures continued throughout trial, however, without any further objection or statements from Plaintiff/Appellant. Other instances of note throughout trial included terse comments and ruling on objections against Plaintiff/Appellant where the Presiding judge admitted to having not heard the question(s) prompting the objection, to be developed more fully in Plaintiff's/Appellant's foregoing arguments. Following the Jury verdict, Plaintiff/Appellant made a post-trial Motion for New Trial "based on the impropriety that was alleged or, essentially, put on the record early Tuesday morning and the same grounds—the same ground for that motion," a reference to the previously stated objection regarding facial expressions and gestures during Plaintiff/Appellant counsel's direct examination of the

¹ R. p. 200, line 2 through p. 170, line 17.

² *Id.*

Plaintiff/Appellant and Defendant/Respondent on day one of trial.³ Again, Plaintiff/Appellant was cutoff by the Presiding Judge, who ultimately denied the Motion for New Trial.⁴

Within two hours of the verdict being rendered, Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel received an unsolicited email from a Juror. Two days removed from trial and after several conversations between the Juror and Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel, the Juror sent an email to Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel that included an attached Letter which depicted in detail (1) the Presiding Judge's actions and (2) their effect on the Jury.⁵ Upon receipt of the Letter from the Juror, Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel prepared an affidavit which, if signed by the Juror, would adopt the Letter as his sworn statement; the Affidavit was signed on July 3, 2018. On July 10, 2018, only seven (7) days removed from receiving the signed Affidavit of the Juror, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Amended Motion for New Trial.⁶

On July 12, 2018, Defendant/Respondent filed her Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Amended Motion for New Trial.⁷ On July 17, 2018, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Response to Defendant's Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Amended Motion for New Trial.⁸ Finally, on July 19, 2018, the Court issued an Order denying Plaintiff's Amended Motion for New Trial on the ground that the filing was untimely, and therefore, the Court did not have jurisdiction to grant a

³ R. p. 612, line 5 through line 9.

⁴ *Id.*

⁵ R. p. 15.

⁶ R. p. 6.

⁷ R. p. 18.

⁸ R. p. 22.

new trial. The Court also filed a memorandum opinion with its Order dated July 19, 2018.⁹

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless his findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law.¹⁰ An appellate court may only reverse a trial court's decision regarding a new trial if the trial court abused its discretion in deciding a motion for new trial to the extent an error of law results.¹¹ Further, in general, the conduct of a trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge, and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way.¹² However, reference by a trial judge to an attorney's age, gender, *or competence* are improper and constitute reversible error upon a showing of prejudice.¹³

⁹ R. p. 28.

¹⁰ *Chapman v. Upstate RV & Marine*, 364 S.C. 82, 88-89 610 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 405, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996); *Trivelas v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 357 S.C. 545, 553, 593 S.E.2d 504, 508 (Ct. App. 2004).

¹¹ *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 570, 590 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 2003).

¹² *State v. Bridges*, 278 S.C. 447, 298 S.E.2d 212 (1982).

¹³ *State v. Pace*, 361 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186 (1994), citing *State v. Mitchell*, 261 S.C. 425, 200 S.E. 2d 448 (1973).

ARGUMENT

- I. **FACIAL EXPRESSIONS, GESTURES, AND LACK OF ATTENTION DIRECTED TOWARDS PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WHILE COUNSEL PRESENTED CASE TO JURY WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.**
- II. **TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AT THE CONCLUSION OF CASE BASED ON PREVIOUSLY COMPLAINED OF FACIAL EXPRESSIONS, GESTURES, AND LACK OF ATTENTION DIRECTED TOWARDS PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL.**

Whether Facial Expressions and Gestures Amount to Influence or Tend to Bias Jury

Whether overt facial expressions and gestures have the potential to create bias or unduly influence a jury cannot be denied. Canon 3 of Rule 501, SCACR reads in pertinent part (emphasis added):

B. Adjudicative Responsibilities.

(4) A judge shall be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers and others with whom the judge deals in an official capacity, and shall require similar conduct of lawyers, and of staff, court officials and others subject to the judge's direction and control.

Commentary:

The duty to hear all proceedings fairly and with patience is not inconsistent with the duty to dispose promptly of the business of the court. Judges can be efficient and businesslike while being patient and deliberate.

(5) A judge shall perform judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shall not, in the performance of judicial duties, by words or conduct manifest bias or prejudice, including but not limited to bias or prejudice based upon race, sex, religion, national origin, disability or age, and shall not permit staff, court officials and others subject to the judge's direction and control to do so.

Commentary:

A judge must refrain from speech, gestures or other conduct that could reasonably be perceived as sexual harassment and must require the same standard of conduct of others subject to the judge's direction and control.

A judge must perform judicial duties impartially and fairly. A judge who manifests bias on any basis in a proceeding impairs the fairness of the proceeding and brings the judiciary into disrepute. Facial expression and body language, in addition to oral communication, can give to parties or lawyers in the proceeding, jurors, the media and others an appearance of judicial bias. A judge must be alert to avoid behavior that may be perceived as prejudicial.

Canon 3 of Rule 501, SCACR specifically warns that a judge who manifest bias on any basis in a proceeding impairs the fairness therewith, and further, that facial expressions and body language, in addition to oral communications, can give jurors an appearance of judicial bias. It is well settled that a trial judge must act with absolute impartiality in the performance of judicial duties.¹⁴ Motions for a new trial have been granted where the remarks of a trial judge tended to impugn the credibility of counsel and to diminish her in the eyes of the jury.¹⁵ It is respectfully submitted that a judge *must* be alert to avoid behavior that may be perceived as prejudicial. The oral communications, facial expressions and gestures, and body language in the instant matter were all of a nature that had the potential to give an appearance of judicial bias.

Appellant recognizes that it has long been held that by failing to move for mistrial or recusal or requesting a curative instruction, Plaintiff may waive any error, failing to give the court the opportunity to cure or correct any perceived error.¹⁶ Appellant further recognizes that it has long been held that even attempting to make a motion for new trial after the verdict is rendered comes too late to avoid a waiver of the alleged error.¹⁷ However, Appellant points to *State v. Pace* as

¹⁴ *State v. Pace*, 316 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186 (1994).

¹⁵ *Id.*

¹⁶ *Adams v. Orr*, 260 SC 90, 194 SE2d 232 (1973).

¹⁷ *State v. Penland*, 275 SC 537, 278 SE2d 765 (1981).

controlling on the instant matter.¹⁸

In *State v. Pace*, the trial judge's comments to the jury regarding a lady defense counsel's age and gender were deemed to have deprived the defendant of a fair trial, where the remarks of the court tended to impugn the credibility of counsel and diminish her in the eyes of the jury. In camera, the judge "chastised" defense counsel that a broad question she asked amounted to a fishing expedition. The defense counsel in *State v. Pace* did *not* state a *single* objection on the record and did not make a motion for new trial *at any point*. In addressing the defense counsel's failure to state an objection or to make a motion for a new trial, the Supreme Court of South Carolina stated, "As to counsel's failure to raise an objection, the tone and tenor of the trial judge's remarks concerning her gender and conduct were such that any objection would have been futile. Accordingly, we find no waiver of this issue."¹⁹

The facts in *State v. Pace* bear stark resemblance to the instant matter. The Presiding Judge's overt facial expressions, gestures, and other actions diminished Plaintiff's counsel in the eyes of the jury and deprived the Plaintiff of a fair trial. The Affidavit of Chris Lee highlights the effect the alleged actions had on the jury. In chambers, Plaintiff's counsel attempted to discuss his concerns regarding the facial expressions, gestures, and other actions brought to his attention during adjournment and the undersigned's effort was met with great hostility and accusations of threatening the Court.²⁰ Unlike the defense counsel in *State v. Pace*, the Plaintiff's/Appellant's

¹⁸ *State v. Pace*, 316 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186 (1994).

¹⁹ *State v. Pace*, 316 S.C. 71 at 74, 447 S.E.2d 186 at 187 (1994)(citing *Dunn v. Charleston Coca-Cola Bottling*, 426 S.E.2d 756 (1993)).

²⁰ In chambers, the Presiding Judge, within fifteen seconds and before the undersigned could complete his thought, began shouting at the undersigned, accused the undersigned of threatening him, and shouted at him to get out of

counsel, immediately upon returning to the courtroom, stated his objection and concerns on the record in a tone that could only be characterized as a demonstration of deference and discomfort with his position.²¹ Before the Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel could finish his statement, he was interrupted by the Court. As the Plaintiff's/Appellant's attempted to step from behind his desk to address the Court, he was instructed to get back behind his desk with a shout.²² Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel was accused of threatening the Presiding Judge in making his objection and cautioned to be careful of what he might accuse the Court moving forward.²³ After being accused a second time of threatening the Presiding Judge, Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel, noticing that a motion for new trial and/or recusal was appropriate, stated, "May I respond?" The Presiding Judge responded with an emphatic, "No!"²⁴ Plaintiff/Appellant was not permitted to state any further objection or motion at that time. The Plaintiff/Appellant, being keenly aware of *State v. Pace*, believed any further discussion of the matter *or any discussion of any further alleged impropriety on the part of the Presiding Judge* would have been futile, and that the issues would not be waived in a subsequent motion for new trial or on appeal. Regardless, at the close of trial, the undersigned renewed his motion for a new trial citing the same grounds as his prior objection.²⁵

The strained discourse between Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel and the Presiding Judge

chambers—even after the undersigned pleaded with him to allow him to explain his position.

²¹ R. p. 200, line 2 through p. 201, line 17.

²² *Id.*

²³ *Id.*

²⁴ *Id.*

²⁵ R. p. 612, line 5 through line 9.

continued throughout Day 2 of trial *in the presence of the Jury*. Shortly after stating his objection regarding facial expressions and gestures, Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel attempted to object to a line of questioning regarding the citation of a statute; Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel was chastised regarding the use of speaking objections.²⁶ However, a pattern of allowing speaking objections had already been established by Defendant's/Respondent's counsel on Day 1 of trial.²⁷ The speaking objections by Defendant's/Respondent's counsel continued *afterward* as well without admonition from the Court.²⁸ This discrepancy in the way the attorneys were treated *indeed* occurred in the presence of the Jury.

Whether the Actions Complained of Indeed Influenced or Biased Jury

Canon 3 of Rule 501, SCACR and *State v. Pace* clearly highlight the potential prejudice that may inure from the use of facial expressions and gestures emanating from the bench. If taken as true, the Affidavit of the Juror depicts undue influence exerted upon the Jury and the bias that ultimately ensued to the extent that Plaintiff/Appellant was not afforded a fair and impartial trial. The Affidavit highlights undue influence and bias that permeated throughout the Jury from Day One of trial and continuing throughout. The Affidavit also lends credibility to Plaintiff's/Appellant's concerns as stated on the record on Day Two of trial. The actions complained of and objected to at the start of Day Two indeed influenced and biased the jury.

²⁶ R. p. 206, line 9 through line 21.

²⁷ R. p. 97, line 18 through 21; *see also* R. p. 102, line 8 and 9; *see also* R. p. 103, line 19 through 21; *see also* R. p. 106, line 15 and 16; *see also* R. p. 119, line 21 and 22; *see also* R. p. 120, line 24; *see also* R. p. 122, line 11 and 12; *see also* R. p. 124, line 13 and 14; *see also* R. p. 136, line 19 and 20; *see also* R. p. 168, line 19 through 21; *see also* R. p. 185, line 4 and 5; *see also* R. p. 187, line 19 and 20.

²⁸ R. p. 266, line 4 through 6.

Even in the absence of the Affidavit, there is evidence of facial expressions and gestures emanating from the Court by the Court's own admission. It is worth noting that rather than denying or downplaying the use of facial expressions and gestures, the Presiding Judge instead chastised the Plaintiff's/Appellant's counsel stating, "You have no idea what my facial expressions are... You have no idea what is going through my mind."²⁹ While the Plaintiff/Appellant concedes that very point, the Plaintiff/Appellant would also argue that if Plaintiff/Appellant did not know what the Presiding Judge's facial expressions and gestures meant, then certainly the same can be said for the jury. It is highly unlikely that the Jury perceived the facial expressions and gestures as anything other than detrimental or prejudicial to the Plaintiff/Appellant and his counsel.

Whether the Actions Complained of Were Prejudicial In Nature

The case was decided narrowly—51% liability to the Plaintiff and 49% to the Defendant. A 1% difference drastically changes the outcome of this case.³⁰ If the margins were not so narrow, the argument might stand that even though the Presiding Judge's actions unduly influenced the jury and created bias within the jury, the actions were ultimately not prejudicial and had no bearing on the outcome. Plaintiff rejects even that argument. However, that argument is not available in the instant action. Even the slightest undue influence or biasing of the Jury by the Presiding Judge had the potential to have a drastic effect on the outcome of this case. The actions complained of were prejudicial in nature.

²⁹ R p. 200, line 2 through p. 201, line 17.

³⁰ R. p. 2.

III. TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AS UNTIMELY WHERE THE AMENDED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS FILED EIGHT (7) DAYS AFTER PALINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S COUNSEL RECEIVED A SIGNED AFFIDAVIT FROM A JUROR?

Timeliness of Amended Motion for New Trial and Timeliness of Subsequent Notice of

Appeal of the Order Dated July 19, 2018

On or about July 3, 2018, Plaintiff/Appellant received notice of an Affidavit signed by a juror that, upon information and belief, related directly to the grounds stated for the prior oral motion for new trial made on June 29, 2018 following dismissal of the jury.³¹ In an abundance of caution, both in preserving the right to submit upon appeal as well as to allow the Court an opportunity to question the Jurors, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Amended Motion for New Trial based on Newly Discovered Evidence. The Amended Motion for New Trial was filed on July 10, 2018, which was 11 days after the jury was dismissed, but only 7 days following notice of the existence of an Affidavit signed by a Juror. Plaintiff's/Appellant's position is that the Amended Motion for New Trial was timely pursuant to *Gray v. Bryant*.³²

In *Gray v. Bryant*, 298 S.C. 285, 379 S.E.2d 894 (1989), the Supreme Court held that amendment of a motion for new trial based upon newly discovered evidence is permissible if made within a reasonable time following discovery of new evidence even if made *after* the 10-day period allowed in S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59.³³ The *Gray* Court held that "Rule 59 and 60(b)

³¹ R. p. 15.

³² *Gray v. Bryant*, 298 S.C. 285, 379 S.E.2d 894 (1989).

³³ *Id.*

must be read together.”³⁴ The *Gray* Court went on to cite *Smith v. Quattlebaum*, 223 S.C. 384, 76 S.E.2d 154 (1953):

“In *Smith*, defendant moved for a new trial because of an after-discovered relationship of juror to plaintiff. The court ruled that the trial court had jurisdiction to hear a motion for a new trial because of the after or newly-discovered evidence exception. The Court stated further:

‘It is the duty of the trial judge to ascertain the qualifications of the jurors, and when the discharge of this responsibility is thwarted by mischance, or otherwise, it is within the court’s inherent power to remedy the situation when brought to his attention, even after sine die adjournment of court, by the granting of a new trial, if in its discretion, necessary. *Smith*, 76 S.E. (2d) at 157.’”³⁵

In the instant matter, Plaintiff’s Amended Motion for New Trial filed on July 10, 2018 was made within a reasonable time following notice of the newly discovered evidence. The newly discovered evidence does not disclose discussions during deliberations, and instead, highlight both the potential bias of the jury as well as improper communications between jurors prior to deliberations. Because it is the duty of the trial judge to ascertain the qualification of jurors and when the discharge of this responsibility is thwarted by mischance, or otherwise, it is within the court’s inherent power to remedy the situation when brought to his attention. Irrespective of same, the trial judge dismissed the Amended Motion for New Trial by Order dated July 19, 2018 as untimely. It is respectfully submitted that dismissal of Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s Amended Motion for New Trial was error.