THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001423
Case No. 2017-CP-39-0428

John M. Burgess, Appellant,

v.

Katherine C. Hunter, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Counsel for Respondent

RECEIVED
DEC 30 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court correctly ruled that the Appellant's Amended Motion for New Trial was untimely, and as a result, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to hear and adjudicate that motion.

As a threshold issue, the trial court ruled that the Amended Motion for New Trial filed by the Appellant John Burgess on July 10, 2018, was untimely, and as a result, the trial court was divested of jurisdiction to even consider that amended motion and the supporting affidavit of Christopher Lee filed therewith. (R. 28-29).¹ As the trial court points out, the Appellant made an oral motion for a new trial on June 29, 2018, immediately after the jury was discharged. (R. 612). That motion was denied on the record at that time. (R. 612). Rule 59(b), SCRCP, provides that “[t]he motion for a new trial shall be made promptly after the jury is discharged, or in the discretion of the court, not later than 10 days thereafter.” Rule 59(b), SCRCP. Rule 59(b) does not provide for a successive or amended motion for new trial. In other words, Rule 59(b) does not authorize a litigant to make an oral motion for new trial immediately after the jury is discharged and then a second or successive or amended motion within the next ten days. *See, Gray v.*

¹ In *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 370 S.C. 5, 633 S.E.2d 722 (2006), the Supreme Court explained that “[j]urisdiction refers to the trial court's authority to retain jurisdiction over the case, not the court's subject matter jurisdiction.” 633 S.E.2d at 730, n.10.

Bryant, 298 S.C. 285, 379 S.E.2d 894, 896 (1989) (“Rule 59 does not provide any procedure by which a party can amend a motion for new trial or add new grounds after the expiration of the ten-day period”).

Of course, even where a new trial motion is filed within ten days, that requires the trial judge’s permission. Importantly, as the trial court also recognized, the ten-day deadline is absolute and not subject to extension under any circumstances. Rule 6(b), SCRPC, grants a trial court limited authority to extend certain deadlines but expressly excludes Rule 59 from that authority. *See, Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 815 S.E.2d 431 (2018). Here, the Appellant made his motion for new trial on June 29, 2018, and never made any request that the trial judge grant him ten days to make that motion. Certainly, there was no request for the trial judge to allow him the opportunity to file a second or amended motion.

Nonetheless, it is undisputed that the Amended Motion for New Trial was filed on July 10, 2018, which was beyond the ten-day limit allowed by Rule 59(b) anyways. Therefore, even if the Appellant had been granted leave of court to file a second or amended motion within ten days, that deadline would have expired on July 9, 2018. Thus, under either scenario, the Amended Motion for New Trial was untimely, and the trial court lacked jurisdiction to hear and adjudicate that motion. *See, In re Beard*, 359 S.C. 351, 597 S.E.2d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[t]he

established case law is that a trial judge loses jurisdiction over a case when the time to file post-trial motion has elapsed”).

In an attempt to argue that his Amended Motion for New Trial was timely filed, the Appellant cites to the case of *Gray v. Bryant*, 298 S.C. 285, 379 S.E.2d 894 (1989), in which the Supreme Court held that “Rules 59 and 60(b) must be read together” and allowed the appellant to file a motion to amend his original motion to amend (which was still pending) where it was filed beyond the ten days for filing a motion to amend. 379 S.E.2d at 287. The Supreme Court relied on Rule 60(b)(2) and concluded that the newly discovered evidence -- consisting of a letter written to a newspaper by a juror on the same day the verdict was returned but not published until two weeks later -- “could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b).” *Id.* Accordingly, the Supreme Court ruled that “appellant moved to amend his motion within a reasonable time after discovery of evidence of [the juror’s] bias and prejudice and, in fact, before the trial court had ruled on the original motion.” *Id.*

The Appellant’s reliance on *Gray*, however, is misplaced. Unlike the plaintiff in *Gray*, the Appellant never filed a motion to amend his original motion to amend. The Appellant never sought leave of the trial court to take any action. Moreover, the Appellant’s original motion for new trial had already been decided by the time that he filed his amended motion. And most importantly, unlike the

plaintiff in *Gray*, the Appellant could not rely on Rule 60(b)(2) because the newly discovered evidence was indeed discovered and known within the ten-day period after the jury was discharged. The affidavit of Christopher Lee attests that the juror communicated with the Appellant's counsel on June 29, 2018, just hours after the trial ended. (R. 15). In addition, the affidavit was signed on July 3, 2018, which was well within the ten-day period following the jury's discharge. (R. 15). By its express terms, Rule 60(b)(2) is not applicable where the newly discovered evidence could have been and indeed was discovered through the exercise of due diligence "in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)," meaning within ten days of the date the jury was discharged. Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCF.

Thus, the circumstances in the case at bar are very different than those in *Gray*, and the Appellant cannot rely on the analysis in that case to argue that his Amended Motion for New Trial was timely filed. In short, the trial court was correct in ruling that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the Amended Motion for New Trial. That ruling should be affirmed.

II. The Appellant has failed to show that he was denied a fair trial based upon the alleged facial expressions, gestures, and “lack of attention” by the trial judge.

The Appellant John Burgess contends on appeal that he was denied a fair trial based upon the trial judge’s alleged “facial expressions, gestures, and lack of attention” given to his attorney while he presented the case. For the reasons discussed at length below, the Respondent rejects any contention that the parties, the Appellant included, did not receive a fair trial from the judge, the jury, and their counsel over the course of the five-day trial.

A. Basic Principles of Law

From the outset, there are several elementary principles of law that establish the framework for this discussion. It is well settled that “[l]itigants, whether plaintiffs or defendants, are entitled to fair trials but not perfect trials.” *Aakjer v. Spagnoli*, 291 S.C. 165, 352 S.E.2d 503, 511 (Ct. App. 1987). “If a new trial was required every time a flaw or mere possibility of prejudice occurred, litigation would be unduly prolonged.” *Id.* Moreover, “[p]erfection in human behavior is an unrealistic expectation. This principle applies as well to trial judges as it does to lesser mortals.” *Id.* (Citation omitted).

Nonetheless, it is also true that a “trial judge must act with absolute impartiality in the performance of judicial duties.” *State v. Pace*, 316 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186, 187 (1994). Accordingly, a trial judge should refrain from remarks

that “impugn the credibility of counsel” and “diminish him ... in the eyes of the jury.” *Id.* “Reference by a trial judge to an attorney’s age, gender, or competence [is] improper.” *Id.*

At the same time, a trial judge has the “inherent authority to manage and conduct a trial.” *Branham v. Ford Motor Co.*, 390 S.C. 203, 701 S.E.2d 5, 26 (2010). The Supreme Court has long recognized that “[a] trial judge is vested with a wide discretion in the conduct of a trial. He has the duty to see that the trial proceeds in an orderly fashion and should prevent unnecessary repetition, working to the end that the time of the court be preserved.” *State v. DeBerry*, 250 S.C. 314, 157 S.E.2d 637, 641 (1967). As to the presentation of evidence, Rule 611(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence dictates that “[t]he court shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence so as to (1) make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth, (2) avoid needless consumption of time, and (3) protect witnesses from harassment or undue embarrassment.” *See*, Rule 611(a), SCRE.

Therefore, while needing to demonstrate impartiality, the trial judge must nonetheless manage the trial, and with that comes the need to admonish parties, witnesses, and counsel. In addressing the related issue of a judge’s recusal based on partiality, the United States Supreme Court recognized that “judicial remarks

during the course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge.” *Liteky v. United States*, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994). An exception to that standard occurs where the judicial remarks “reveal such a high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible.” *Id.* The Supreme Court distinguished, however, “expressions of impatience, dissatisfaction, annoyance, and even anger, that are within the bounds of what imperfect men and women, even after having been confirmed as federal judges, sometimes display.” *Id.*

In sum, the standard for showing judicial bias or misconduct by the trial judge to vacate a jury’s decision and require a new trial is necessarily a high one. It should and does present a strenuous burden to meet. That high burden has not been met by the Appellant in this case.

B. Issue Preservation

This Court has held that “[g]enerally, where bias and prejudice of a trial judge is claimed, the issue must be raised when the facts first become known and, in any event, before the matter is submitted for decision.” *State v. Thomason*, 355 S.C. 278, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003). Similarly, the Supreme Court has ruled that “[i]t is the general rule that prejudicial remarks in the course of a trial made by the court must be seasonably objected to and an exception noted, in the

absence of which the question will not be ordinarily reviewed on appeal. In general, the exceptions must be taken at the time the remarks are made.” *Lipscomb v. Poole*, 247 S.C. 425, 147 S.E.2d 692, 697 (1966). The Supreme Court relied on its earlier decision in *Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 141 S.E.2d 129 (1965), holding as follows:

If the defendant considered the remarks of the trial judge prejudicial, it was its duty to call the matter to the attention of the court at that time by proper objection or motion. There is no sound reason to place matters of this nature upon a different basis from other occurrences during the trial of a case, in which the duty has been placed upon litigants to make timely objection in order to preserve the right of review. The fact that counsel may have some hesitancy in making objection during the trial to remarks or conduct of the court, which are considered prejudicial, does not excuse the failure to do so. An objection timely made to improper remarks or conduct of the court during the trial will afford in many instances an opportunity for correction of the error at that time or the granting of a mistrial as the particular situation requires. The interest of the trial court is only to see that a fair trial is had and objections to improper remarks or conduct on its part will be received in that spirit.

141 S.E.2d at 134.

A recent decision of the California Court of Appeals is also instructive. In *Arave v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.*, 19 Cal. App. 5th 525, 228 Cal. Rptr. 3d 120 (2018), the appellant complained that the trial judge denied him a fair trial by making “inappropriate facial expressions and gestures ... such as rolling its eyes, grimacing, shaking its head, pursing its lips, sighing and making

looks of disgust.” 228 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 133. The court recognized that “[i]t is obviously difficult on the paper record we receive on appeal to assess accusations that a trial court made inappropriate gestures in front of a jury.” *Id.* The court found it to be “critical for a litigant who believes a trial court is engaging in such misconduct to object immediately, thereby putting the court on notice of the need to correct its behavior and creating a record of the problem for appellate review.” *Id.* Most critically, the court held that “[i]n cases where the litigant believes the conduct indicates judicial bias or threatens the fairness of a trial proceeding, the appropriate response is a prompt motion for disqualification.” *Id.*

The Appellate Court of Connecticut is in accord. In *Schnabel v. Tyler*, 32 Conn. App. 704, 630 A.2d 1361 (1993), the appellant claimed that the trial judge showed bias in several ways including by his hand gestures. The court explained “as a general rule, even in cases alleging judicial bias, this court will not consider the issue on appeal where the party failed to make the proper motion for disqualification at trial.” 630 A.2d at 1367. Most importantly, “[f]ailure to request recusal or move for a mistrial represents the plaintiff’s acquiescence to the judge presiding over the trial.” *Id.*

In the case at bar, the Appellant alleges that the offending conduct by the trial judge occurred during the first day of trial while his counsel was conducting examinations of the Respondent and then the Appellant. There was no objection,

contemporaneous or otherwise, raised during that day of trial. There was no mention on the record of any issues or concerns with the judge's conduct, including facial expressions or gestures. At the beginning of the second day of trial, there was apparently a discussion in chambers, for which there is no record. In footnote 20 of his opening brief, the Appellant attempts to present his counsel's account of what occurred in chambers, but that is unsupported in the record and should be stricken.² When the trial began on the record that day, the Appellant's counsel raised the issue of "facial expressions" of the trial judge while he was conducting witness examinations the previous day. Importantly, the Appellant made no motion for recusal nor a motion for mistrial. His counsel, in fact, advised the court that "I'm not necessarily asking for any recusal or anything along those lines." (R. 200). He also did not request any curative instruction. Critically, there was no request for *any action* which would serve as a basis for the new trial that he now seeks. Then, the Appellant had four additional days of trial; yet, he never again raised any objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, to the judge's alleged

² It is well settled that discussions or objections made in chambers or off-the-record at a side bar have no substantive effect. In the case of *Benton v. Davis*, 248 S.C. 402, 150 S.E.2d 235 (1966), the Supreme Court rejected a party's claim that an objection to jury charges made in a chambers conference is sufficient. The Court explained that "[t]he duty to make timely objection to portions of the charge considered erroneous is not discharged by an objection made at an informal conference in the judge's chambers which is not recorded as a part of the record." 150 S.E.2d at 239. The holding from *Benton* has subsequently been reaffirmed in *York v. Conway Ford, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 170, 480 S.E.2d 726 (1997), where the Court wrote: "An objection made during an off-the-record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review." 480 S.E.2d at 728.

conduct. He had four days to seek some corrective action if he believed that the judge's facial expressions or gestures were depriving him of a fair trial. He took no such action.

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